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CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We will begin with Senate Bill (S.B.) 410 and hear from former Nevada State 
Senator Justin Jones who is in Las Vegas.  
 
SENATE BILL 410: Revises provisions relating to reckless driving. (BDR 43-72) 
 
JUSTIN JONES (Advocacy Chair, Southern Nevada Bicycle Coalition): 
 
I worked in 2015 and 2016 with Senator Mark Manendo, the University 
of Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV) Vulnerable Road Users Project and the 
Clark County District Attorney’s Office on this bill.  
 
Too often motorists who injure or kill pedestrians or cyclists walk away with an 
insignificant punishment or are not even charged. This bill will attempt to 
correct flaws in the previous reckless driving statute. It does not create 
a new penalty, as suggested in some of the fiscal notes. Under 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 484B.653, subsection 6, district attorneys(DAs) 
are already authorized to charge those who drive in willful and wanton disregard 
of the safety of people or property, and cause death or substantial bodily harm, 
with a category B felony. That includes drivers who hit and kill pedestrians and 
cyclists. Although they were not a focus of the bill, speed contests are included 
in the same section of the NRS.  
 
The proposal in S.B. 410 simply clarifies that in appropriate circumstances, 
DAs will not have to separately prove willful and wanton disregard by the 
motorist in such circumstances. It is a simple cleanup bill. There is no fiscal 
impact because it does not add any new penalties or new crimes. I urge 
the Committee to pass S.B. 410.  
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
Is there a change in documentation for what was willful?  
 
MR. JUSTIN JONES: 
Page 12 of the bill, citing subsection 6 of the NRS, shows the charge is already 
allowed in existing law. We found the DA in southern Nevada had difficulty 
charging people with these offenses because the willful and wanton language is 
not well defined. The language in the new section 7 makes it clearer that in 
appropriate circumstances, a DA could charge someone who actually injured, 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5475/Overview/
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caused bodily harm or killed a cyclist, pedestrian or anyone related to a speed 
contest with a category B felony.  
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
Is there a change in the process? Does this just clarify language? 
 
MR. JUSTIN JONES: 
There is no change. Yes, it clarifies the process.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
A fiscal note from the Nevada Department of Corrections says, in its estimation, 
no one in prison for reckless driving would meet this definition. Is there anyone 
to prosecute under this right now? 
 
JOHN T. JONES, JR. (Chief Deputy District Attorney, Legislative Liaison, 

Clark County Office of the District Attorney; Nevada District 
Attorneys’ Association): 

 
I am here on behalf of the Nevada District Attorneys’ Association. I am a 
prosecutor in Clark County. We typically pursue them under other provisions of 
the law. Under the current definition, we would need to prove the willful or 
wanton disregard, in other words, that someone intentionally drove his or her 
vehicle into a bicyclist or a pedestrian.  
 
This bill would clarify that when a driver violates the three-foot rule with respect 
to hitting bicyclists or pedestrians, or violates the various enumerated other 
provisions of the NRS that are listed in subsection 2 on page 11 of the bill, 
we could proceed under the felony theory and not have to prove the willful 
or wanton disregard.  
 
I want to be clear that this statute does not make the felony require mandatory 
prison. It does not make it nonprobationable. It does not mean we will ask for 
prison in every case. It does not mean if we ask for prison a judge will grant it. 
It just gives us extra tools to help with pedestrian safety, especially in 
Clark County, where we have had a major issue with respect to pedestrians.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
Is this about drag racing? 
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MR. JOHN JONES: 
Yes. That could be part of it.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
What else is a speed contest, then? 
 
MR. JOHN JONES: 
It is drag racing.  
 
SENATOR MARK MANENDO (Senatorial District No. 21):  
We went through much of the testimony in the Senate Committee on 
Transportation. Thank you for hearing the bill. We have been working with 
Justin Jones and John Jones on this legislation and urge your passage.  
 
MR. JOHN JONES: 
Justin Jones did a great job putting on the record the policy reasons behind the 
bill. The Nevada District Attorneys’ Association is here in support of the bill.  
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
I support the intent of the bill. The big issue for me is bike riders on U.S. 50 and 
the 3-foot rule. The space is tight. Cyclists have to get over and the rumble 
strips make it difficult. Even going the speed limit at 70 mph, things can get 
tight in a hurry. If there is a group of bicyclists, one can stray. I am still 
supportive of where you are headed.  
 
MR. JUSTIN JONES: 
We agree entirely with Senator Goicoechea. Cyclists must obey the law. 
The Southern Nevada Bicycle Coalition has worked to educate the public and 
encourage cyclists to do their job in obeying the law. If there are instances 
where cyclists are not obeying the law, they should be cited in 
appropriate circumstances.  
 
BRIAN O’CALLAGHAN (Government Liaison, Office of Intergovernmental Services, 

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department): 
We are in support of the bill.  
 
JULIE BUTLER (Division Administrator, General Services Division, 

Nevada Department of Public Safety): 
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I am here to testify about the fiscal note for S.B. 410 from the General Services 
Division, Nevada Department of Public Safety.  
 
The Division houses the Central Repository for Nevada Records of Criminal 
History, which maintains Statewide records of Nevada arrests and dispositions. 
Information comes from Nevada law enforcement agencies, prosecutors, courts 
and correctional institutions. The NRS is not detailed enough when it 
comes to sharing criminal charges electronically between different 
information technology (IT) systems at the State and local levels.  
 
Absent a penal code, a new method had to be designed by which each crime 
and enhancement combination could be uniquely identified to share criminal 
charges electronically. The method is known as the Nevada Offense 
Codes (NOCS). The NOCS system was implemented in the middle of the 
1980s and has been used ever since.  
 
The NOCS assign a unique alphanumeric code to each crime and enhancement 
combination to denote the specific crime, such as robbery; severity, such as 
felony or misdemeanor; and enhancements such as deadly weapon or older or 
vulnerable person. Two staff in the repository maintain the offense codes on 
behalf of all Nevada criminal justice agencies. The NOCS Unit is responsible for 
creating, modifying and repealing NOCS codes in accordance with legislation 
enacted every legislative session. It must do so before the effective date of 
each bill. The unit also works in conjunction with local government agencies 
when new criminal ordinances are enacted to ensure that local law enforcement 
agencies can arrest and book based on those newly enacted ordinances.  
 
Senate Bill 410 is one of many bills that may affect the Central Repository’s 
NOCS Unit. Section 9 of the bill newly provides that if a person’s reckless 
driving proximally causes a person’s death or bodily injury, the driver is guilty of 
a category B felony.  
 
Because the bill would change multiple statutes by adding the language in 
section 9, staff must review every statute affected by the bill for potential 
NOCS impact. To arrest someone for violating the statute referenced in this bill, 
the NOCS Unit must ensure those NOCS codes exist in accordance with the 
statutes. This means that 59 offense codes need to be repealed, 9 new 
subtypes need to be established, and 57 new offense codes must be created.  
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The total time for staff to create and repeal offense codes specifically related to 
S.B. 410 is 53 hours. The Central Repository will not know the cumulative 
impact to the NOCS and whether more staff is needed until all bills with new, 
modified or repealed crimes have been enacted by the Legislature. It looks like 
we will not need additional staff. We would return to the 
Interim Finance Committee (IFC) in the 2017-2019 biennium after all bills have 
been analyzed and we determine if the workload increases would require 
more staff.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
That cleared up some questions I had. You would look at all the bills and their 
cumulative impact. Would you then come to IFC? 
 
MS. BUTLER: 
Yes. We are tracking 115 bills. Most have minimal impact on NOCS. We could 
need to create, modify or delete 1,800 codes.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
Is this an efficient way to do this? 
 
MS. BUTLER: 
I am not quite sure how else we would do it. We have to look at every single 
bill. We often do not know what is in play, and what is not, until the end 
of session.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
I actually mean how we manage the categories themselves when you have to 
stack all these codes on top of each other. You mentioned our IT system was 
not adequate to communicate with other jurisdictions about what was 
being prosecuted.  
 
MS. BUTLER: 
It is not our IT system in itself. Law enforcement agencies, courts and the 
corrections authorities all have different IT systems. We must have unique 
codes to make sure charges at the local level flow all the way through the 
system. Those are the NOCS. We have all agreed to use them. The system is 
efficient for that purpose. Allowing each to keep its own system reduces impact 
to the agencies.  
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MARK KRMPOTIC (Senate Fiscal Analyst): 
Fiscal staff met with Ms. Butler and her staff to talk about the cumulative 
impact of the bills. Bills considered by the Legislature have an impact on the 
repository and the Nevada Criminal Justice Information System each session. 
The Agency needs to consider the aggregate effect of all the bills being passed. 
Fiscal staff understand this particular bill may not necessarily add a fiscal impact 
to the repository, but when staff looks at the cumulative impact additional 
resources could be required. Fiscal staff will meet with the Agency to consider 
new positions where those bills require quicker implementation in the fiscal year 
(FY) 2017-2018, beginning July 1, 2017. Fiscal staff thought it was important 
to get that on the record for the members.  
 
A number of these bills come forward with these fiscal notes and staff is 
uncertain if they should come to Senate Finance Committee or not, or if they 
should be exempt or not. It really requires them looking at the bills in the 
aggregate to determine what the impact might be. It looks like on an aggregate 
basis, the impact can be absorbed.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
Do you use the NOCS system to communicate with all the disparate systems? 
Is it a system or a methodology?  
 
MS. BUTLER: 
It is a procedure. My employees are in charge of the codes. Each of the criminal 
justice agencies in Nevada uses that code to book charges. When someone is 
brought in and booked, the agencies look at the NOCS table to see what the 
corresponding code is. That code flows all the way through the system.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
How do they communicate between systems? 
 
MS. BUTLER: 
The purpose of the NOCS is to communicate between those systems.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
Does one agency have access to the other agency, and do they just look up the 
code to know what it means? 
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MS. BUTLER: 
I do not know if individual systems have access to the other agency. I do not 
know if Washoe County’s system communicates with Clark County system. 
We just all use the same charging schema and the NOCS to communicate 
charges and have a standardized methodology Statewide.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
Help me understand the need. Does someone in Washoe County need to know 
about Clark County? 
 
MS. BUTLER: 
They do not necessarily need to know that. It is just a standardized method for 
us to know who is being charged with what. No matter which IT system is 
used, the charge remains the same number so we can pass the correct 
information between systems.  
 
MR. JUSTIN JONES: 
I understand Ms. Butler’s concerns. I think they can be dealt with. I hope you 
will pass S.B. 410.  
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Since S.B. 410 is an exempt bill, we will not need to take action today. 
The hearing is closed.  
 
We will open the hearing on S.B. 457. Senator Parks will present the bill.  
 
SENATE BILL 457: Provides for the award of college credit for military 

education, training and occupational experience. (BDR 34-1080) 
 
SENATOR DAVID PARKS (Senatorial District No. 7): 
I am here to present S.B. 457, which awards college credits for military 
education, training and occupational experience. The bill was heard in the 
Senate Committee on Education, voted out and re-referred to Senate Finance 
because it had a fiscal note on it. The intent of the bill is to provide experience 
credit so students can move through the Nevada System of 
Higher Education (NSHE) and receive a degree earlier than they would 
otherwise.  
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5657/Overview/
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The NSHE reports a fiscal impact of $100,000 in FY 2017-2018 to support a 
consultant or temporary employee for at least one year. The position would 
facilitate discussions among the various stakeholder groups, to include public 
and private institutions in the State, to develop Statewide standards required 
through the bill.  
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
Do they say just one position will be able to go through all the applications? 
 
SENATOR PARKS: 
We have a representative from NSHE who would provide greater detail.  
 
CONSTANCE J. BROOKS, Ph.D. (Vice Chancellor, Government and 

Community Affairs, Nevada System of Higher Education): 
We have done some analysis and are happy to remove our fiscal note provided 
there would be a conceptual amendment that would remove the 
Nevada Commission on Postsecondary Education (CPE). If we were able to work 
with a policy within NSHE and not include the private schools initially, we would 
be able to handle the workload necessary to see this bill come to fruition. 
We stand ready to remove our fiscal note if the Senator would be amenable to 
removing the CPE and allowing us to work with the American Council 
on Education (ACE), as the bill states.  
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
That is up to the sponsor, not me.  
 
SENATOR HARRIS: 
We heard the bill in the Senate Committee on Education, and we liked it so 
much we immediately passed it. Regarding the two organizations, one that 
results in a fiscal note and one that does not, will our veterans’ needs be 
adequately served by working with the alternate organization so the fiscal note 
can be removed? 
 
SENATOR PARKS: 
We certainly want to make sure the person who has the training and experience 
gets credits with other postsecondary institutions if they are so inclined to 
offer them. I am afraid I will have to defer to someone who can give me 
some analysis and make a recommendation. I appreciate the efforts of 
Dr. Brooks and NSHE to remove the fiscal note.  
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SENATOR DENIS: 
Right now, the bill includes NSHE and the CPE. Are you asking to remove just 
the CPE?  
 
DR. BROOKS:  
Yes. Varying institutions with varying levels of accreditation for programs make 
it difficult to work with every single private institution. Doing so would be quite 
time consuming and take necessary resources to see that happen. We would 
need another staff person. It is a laborious task. We are interested in 
supporting it. We would just need someone to work with the many private 
institutions. If that provision were eliminated, we would be able to work 
internally on a policy that would allow veterans to get college credit for 
their experiences.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
Would that only be in the NSHE institutions? 
 
DR. BROOKS:  
Perhaps this could be viewed as a pilot for now. As we implement the 
legislation internally, and see how that works, we can reach out to the private 
schools once we are comfortable with how this will be implemented in each of 
our institutions.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
Do we know how many veterans are in NSHE versus private institutions? 
 
DR. BROOKS:  
I do not have information on the private schools. About 6,500 veterans attend 
NSHE institutions. It is a large population. We prefer working internally with 
those students before we go out to the private schools.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
Would you envision that once these standards are set, you would be able to 
apply them retroactively for veterans currently in the system so they can 
advance toward their degrees?  
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DR. BROOKS:  
I believe that would be the idea. I would need to verify that with 
NSHE’s Academic Affairs Office. I do not think we would view this as a way to 
shortchange anyone who is in our system.  
 
ROSS BRYANT (Director of Military and Veteran Services, University of Nevada, 

Las Vegas): 
I am a retired U.S. Army veteran. I am the Director of veteran services at UNLV 
where I serve more than 1,700 veterans. We do retention programs, graduation 
ceremonies and more. We have about a 65 percent graduation rate. One of my 
challenges has been that there is not a credit standard across NSHE schools. It 
is a totally different standard with private schools.  
 
When veterans are thinking of coming to UNLV, they ask how many credits will 
count. They go through a system that is not always equitable and one that 
I cannot easily explain. It is a complicated issue for 1,700 veterans and 
1,700 careers. If veterans go into the same kind of academic study they were 
doing in the service, that is an easy transition. The challenge is when veterans 
come out and go into a different program. In these instances, what kinds of 
things will translate and count? I will do everything in my power to make sure 
we can effectively advertise up front to veterans who might come to Nevada for 
a specific program we have in cooperation with the ACE guidelines. It would be 
a fair and equitable process that everyone could understand.  
 
Veterans would understand if they were not getting credit for something 
unrelated to their service. It is not the desire to have everyone graduate early. If 
a pilot wanted to be an accountant, most veterans would understand credits 
would not transfer. As long as they know that up front, they would accept it.  
 
I have a written statement (Exhibit C) in support.  
 
BRUNO MOYA (Rebel Veterans Organization, University of Nevada, Las Vegas):  
I am a U.S. Marine Corps and Iraq War veteran, a graduate student of UNLV, 
a Rebel Veteran Organization member, a husband to a trauma nurse and a father 
to an honor roll student who is here with me today to see this process. 
Education is something my family supports. I will read from my written 
testimony in support of S.B. 457 (Exhibit D).  
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN745C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN745D.pdf
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RANDY DEXTER (President, Rebel Veterans Organization, University of Nevada, 

Las Vegas): 
I was raised in Henderson and am a constituent of Senator Parks. I joined the 
U.S. Army after the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001. I will read from 
my written statement in support of S.B. 457 (Exhibit E).  
 
LESLIE LINGO (member, Rebel Veterans Organization, University of Nevada, 

Las Vegas): 
I support this bill because I am proof of what this bill can do for veterans 
like me. I served more than 12 years of active duty in the U.S. Army. I will read 
from my written statement (Exhibit F).  
 
JOHN MORALES: 
I am a political science student at the College of Southern Nevada. I am also in 
the military as a soldier in the 777th Forward Support Company of the Nevada 
Army National Guard. I very much support this bill. I speak for other soldiers in 
my unit who would greatly benefit from this bill. I have buddies who are nursing 
students and combat medics. None of that is translating into their civilian 
schooling. I would very much appreciate the passing of S.B. 457.  
 
RICHARD CARREON (President, Nevada Veterans Association): 
I am a retired U.S. Army staff sergeant. I support S.B. 457. For 14 years, I was 
on active duty and served multiple roles in combat and combat service support. 
I was responsible for logistical missions. I received extensive training.  
  
This is not just about the credits. It is about the results we veterans produce 
because of our training. Many of my fellow veterans have decided to make 
Nevada their home. If we can use our college credit for the things we trained for 
already, that leaves those slots open for students who have not taken 
the courses. I support S.B. 457.  
 
DR. BROOKS: 
We are in full support of this legislation. The NSHE Board of Regents has a 
policy in place that accepts military experience in exchange for college credit. 
It is not uniformly implemented at each of our institutions. 
Senate Bill 457 encourages us to work with our institutions to make sure we 
are more veteran friendly and that we award credits based on all of the life-
saving and peace-making work veterans do on our behalf.  
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN745E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN745F.pdf
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We are working with Senator Parks behind the scenes in hopes he will accept 
our amendment. We would love to withdraw our fiscal note, but we are just 
being realistic about the many private institutions out there. We want our 
veterans to be treated fairly. We can work internally first and then reach out to 
the private schools.  
 
SAMANTHA BIVINS (Senator, College of Liberal Arts; Chair, Health and Safety 

Committee, Consolidated Students of the University of Nevada 
Student Government, University of Nevada, Las Vegas): 

 
I am a widow of a service connected U.S. Marine Corps veteran, a mom to four 
amazing kids, a student and a senator in Consolidated Students of the 
University of Nevada Student Government, UNLV. I had the honor of 
coauthoring the policy brief for what became Bill Draft Request 34-1080 and is 
now S.B. 457 with my friend and U.S. Marine Corps veteran Bruno Moya.  
 
BILL DRAFT REQUEST 34-1080: Provides college credit for certain military 

education and training. (Later introduced as S.B. 457.) 
 
We are very appreciative of Senator Parks and Assemblyman Edwards for their 
leadership and dedication to serving veterans by cosponsoring this important 
legislation. I believe very strongly, as we all should, in advocating for expanded 
benefits and services for veterans in the State of Nevada. Passing S.B. 457 is 
just one of the many steps that the Legislature can take to achieve that goal.  
 
By awarding college credits to veterans for prior military education and training, 
you are acknowledging that these people have valuable skills sets directly 
applicable to various degree programs for which they are enrolled. This bill will 
help veterans earn their degrees more quickly, which equates to more time 
spent with their families and the ability to obtain jobs in their chosen fields 
sooner. It will decrease Nevada’s unemployment rate. This bill is a win for 
veterans, and it is a win for the State of Nevada.  
 
ANDY LEPEILBET (Adjutant and Legislative Past Department Commander, 

Department of Nevada, The Military Order of the Purple Heart; 
United Veterans Legislative Council): 

We support this bill. I am a former enlisted man and combat infantry officer.  
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Many of the veterans who serve in our military go on to get degrees in 
electrical, mechanical and civil engineering based on their education. Some of 
the education given in the military is not easily found in the private sector. 
Some of our people go to school and get discouraged because they are in 
remedial classes when they first start out because they did not get credit for 
their military training. I have known enlisted men who became medical doctors. 
Some have been taught computer science. Some become criminologists after 
receiving extensive education in the military police corps. It is critical they get 
credit for this education.  
 
LUIS VALERA (Vice President, Government Affairs and Compliance, University of 

Nevada, Las Vegas): 
I echo everything that has been said. I am very proud to see so many of our 
Rebel Veterans here to testify in support. We look forward to working with 
NSHE. President Len Jessup has told me on several occasions this is a priority 
for him. He would like to reassure the Committee he will continue to dedicate 
the resources necessary internally for UNLV to continue to lead on this issue.  
 
MR. KRMPOTIC: 
Speaking strictly from a fiscal standpoint, staff felt it important to bring to the 
Committee’s attention the potential issue of the credits that would be awarded 
under this bill relative to the calculation of weighted student credit hours for the 
purposes of distributing funding for NSHE instructional institutions. With your 
permission, I would ask Alex Haartz to address the Committee with 
those comments.  
 
ALEX HAARTZ (Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst): 
For instructional budgets of NSHE, new funding is allocated and distributed to 
the institutions under the current funding mechanism through the count of 
weighted student credit hours. Another part of the mechanism is the 
performance funding, in which institutions’ performance metrics are tied in part 
to the types and numbers of degrees issued. Staff would remind the Committee 
of that mechanism for future discussions when funding is being considered for 
the institutions as to these types of credits and how the Committee chooses to 
consider them in the appropriation and distribution of funding.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
Their fiscal note does not take into account a reduction in revenue based on a 
reduced number of courses that veterans will be enrolled in. Those courses may 
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be back filled by new enrollees. The issue Mr. Haartz is bringing up is whether 
credit given for experience or education gained in military service should be 
counted toward the student credit hours of the institutions.  
 
MR. HAARTZ: 
That is correct. Under the current formula, as each new biennium occurs, there 
is a caseload enhancement in which new weighted student credit hours are 
compared to prior biennia. This bill is silent as to the treatment of how any 
credit hours awarded under this bill would be included in that count and 
therefore eligible to be funded with General Fund appropriations. It is also silent 
on if they would be subsequently counted in the total against which funding 
is distributed to each of the institutions. There is a policy decision for the 
Committee regarding these two pieces of the current formula.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
If they did not do the work, I do not see why the institution should be getting 
credit for it. The idea is to make sure the veterans get credit for what they did. 
It should not necessarily affect how much we give to NSHE institutions for work 
they did not perform.  
 
SENATOR PARKS:  
I want to express my appreciation to Bruno Moya, Randall Dexter and 
Samantha Bivins for bringing the position paper forward that generated 
S.B. 457. When we went through the drafting process, we knew both the 
NSHE Board of Regents and the CPE were the two State bodies we wanted to 
make sure were covered. I am not sure removing the CPE is what we want to 
do. We were not expecting the NSHE Board of Regents to do the work of the 
CPE. We need to work that out. The CPE did indicate that there was no fiscal 
impact. They saw their work as collaborating with ACE.  
 
We need to figure out why the additional impact affects the NSHE Board 
of Regents, whereas if we removed the CPE, it would not. We were not 
expecting NSHE to do the CPE’s work.  
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We look forward to you working with our staff and NSHE on the issues brought 
up today. I offer a heartfelt thanks to our veterans who are here. I will close the 
hearing on S.B. 457 and open the hearing on S.B. 503.  
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SENATE BILL 503: Makes an appropriation to the Account for the 

Channel Clearance, Maintenance, Restoration, Surveying and 
Monumenting Program. (BDR S-904) 

 
JASON KING, P.E. (State Engineer, Nevada Division of Water Resources, 

State Engineer’s Office): 
The bill before you makes an appropriation to replenish the account for the 
channel clearance, maintenance, restoration, surveying and monumenting 
program enacted during the 1973 Legislative Session. I will read from my 
prepared statement (Exhibit G).  
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
I know we are talking only $250,000, and it is a drop in the river. Do you have 
an estimate of what we need coming out of this extreme winter? I know what 
the Truckee-Carson Irrigation District in Fallon is facing. It will be huge. Is this 
technically seed money? 
 
MR. KING: 
I do not have an estimate. If it is approved at the $250,000 level, it will not last 
long given all the projects I know we will see. The cooperating agency only has 
to match 50 percent. Typically, they put in much more than that. I am sure the 
$250,000 will be gone before the end of the calendar year.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
How do you distribute the funds? 
 
MR. KING: 
We have an application form entities fill out and file with our office. We review 
the projects. It is on a first-come, first-served basis. We have to see the validity 
of the project and make sure it matches the criteria. We process them as they 
come in.  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
Can local governments apply for these? 
 
MR. KING: 
Yes.  
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5736/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN745G.pdf
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SENATOR DENIS: 
There is no way to evenly distribute this. You do it on the first-come basis. 
When it runs out of money, is that it? 
 
MR. KING: 
Yes.  
 
ED JAMES (General Manager, Carson Water Subconservancy District): 
We support this bill. The State claims ownership to navigable rivers. We work 
on the Carson River, and the State claims ownership of that. Maintenance is 
required. If you own a building, you have to maintain it. A river is no different. 
The idea is to keep the flows of the channels of the river open. This is not to 
channelize the river. We do not want a Los Angeles River situation. We want a 
natural flowing system. We still need to keep the channels open during 
high flows.  
 
Vegetation tends to grow into the channels and clog them during drought 
conditions as we had for several years. That does not allow water to flow 
through. In January, water came out of the channel in Dayton because of 
vegetation blocking the flow. We did not expect that much flow. It caused 
damage to the area. If we had a bigger flood, the damage would have 
been much greater. Keeping the channel clear protects the banks of the channel 
and what the State actually owns.  
 
In the past, the conservation districts have taken the lead for many of these 
repairs. The reason they do this on behalf of the State is they know the 
landowners. They know how to get to the area and can do it in a more cost 
effective way working cooperatively with the community. That is why the 
conservation districts have received the funds.  
 
The Carson Water Subconservancy District helps fund the conservation 
districts. We provide some of the matching funds. This is critical for the 
watershed’s health, welfare, safety and environmental benefits. We hope you 
pass this bill.  
 
STEVE WALKER (Carson City; Douglas, Lyon and Storey Counties): 
I represent Carson City and Douglas, Lyon and Storey Counties. 
The Carson River, Truckee River and Walker River flow through those counties. 
Right now, the Lake Tahoe watershed is 273 percent of normal, the 
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Truckee River is 221 percent, the Carson River is 221 percent and the Walker 
River is 261 percent of normal. We have record snowpack. We need to clear the 
channels. We need to use the money for seed money. It is typically matched 
with U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Section 319 Nonpoint Source 
Management Program grants. That money is being challenged at the federal 
level, so it makes this even more important.  
 
RUSTY JARDINE (Project Manager, General Counsel, Truckee-Carson 

Irrigation District): 
I am the District Manager and General Counsel for the Truckee-Carson Irrigation 
District. We have well over a 200 percent snowpack. We are trying to draw 
down Lake Lahontan as a precaution, as we speak, in anticipation of the 
massive amount of water that rests upstream. It could fill Lake Lahontan a 
couple of times with what we anticipate will come down to us.  
 
We have 1,000 cubic feet per second (cfs) in the Carson River channel. 
We would not be able to sustain that flow but for our major clearing effort with 
the assistance of Churchill County, the City of Fallon and the U. S. Department 
of Interior Bureau of Reclamation in anticipation of this runoff.  
 
I cannot estimate how much we have expended. We have created virtually a 
new river in the Lahontan Valley. We created a weir, a small dam, off the 
V-line Canal that is allowing the flow of 1,000 cfs across open terrain and 
Bravo 16, which is Navy bombing range, over to the area of U.S. 95. 
From there it is going to form what we used to call Carson Lake. We will need 
that water to go somewhere else. We found that necessary to defend some 
homes in the southern part of our valley. We are creating a 16-mile channel. 
That is new to us. It is in addition to the drains in our valley. We greatly need 
the assistance we can find from sources such as this.  
 
We have new sandbars. Sediment builds up around the bridges, including the 
Nevada Department of Transportation’s bridges. They helped us in this process 
with about $3 million in culvert work to allow the water to pass.  
 
I support this bill.  
 
SENATOR GOICOECHEA: 
What else are you using for grant match? 
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MR. JARDINE: 
I wish I could tell you we are getting a lot of money from the U.S. Bureau 
of Reclamation, but we are not. We have an emergency declaration in 
Churchill County. We hope to find some reimbursement from the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency and other sources. The State has been 
mighty in coming to our aid with much needed equipment. We are looking to 
many sources and hoping to get reimbursement up to 85 percent. Through the 
State, we will see just 50 percent reimbursement.  
 
CRAIG BURNSIDE (Grant Manager, Carson Valley Conservation District): 
We rely on this funding to do work on the Carson River in Douglas County 
and in Carson City. I agree with what has been said. We strongly urge you to 
pass this bill. We would like to see it become a permanent part of the budget to 
allocate $250,000 annually to jurisdictions along the Carson, Truckee, Walker 
and Humboldt River drainages to perform this work on the State-owned land.  
 
SENATOR FORD:  
Is there a public noticing process for soliciting applications for use of the funds? 
 
MR. KING: 
There is no noticing for it.  
 
SENATOR FORD:  
Has the money been used to clear rivers other than the Carson River? 
 
MR. KING: 
The language in NRS 532.220 says the money must be used on navigable 
rivers. Those are the Colorado River, the Virgin River, the Truckee River, the 
Carson River and the Walker River. Nevada’s navigable lakes are Lake Tahoe, 
Washoe Lake and Walker Lake.  
 
SENATOR FORD:  
Has the money been used outside of the Carson River? 
 
MR. KING: 
Yes.  
 
SENATOR FORD:  
Why is no notice required or given relative to applications for the funds? 
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MR. KING: 
It has not been considered. When funds are available, the entities usually are 
aware and the money goes fast. It has not been an issue, but I understand 
the question.  
 
MR. KRMPOTIC: 
Fiscal staff would point out that even though S.B. 503 is an Administration bill, 
it indicates in the fiscal note it contains an appropriation not included in the 
Executive Budget. As such, if the Committee wished to consider the bill, 
staff would account for it in the General Fund balance.  
 
The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2017. That means funding would not be 
available until July 1. In the consideration of passage of this bill, the Committee 
may wish to consider indicating an effective date of upon passage and approval, 
to allow the funding to be spent prior to July 1. Staff would note at the end of 
this meeting the Committee will consider an appropriation of $1.7 million for 
expenditures relating to flood activities in Churchill, Douglas 
and Washoe Counties. Those amounts may go up depending on the spring 
runoff and the effects on these communities. Consideration of upon passage 
and approval may be something the Committee wishes to consider.  
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 503. I will turn the gavel over to 
Vice Chair Parks.  
 
VICE CHAIR PARKS: 
I will open the hearing on S.B. 303. It requires an audit of certain assessments 
conducted in public schools.  
 
SENATE BILL 303: Requires an audit of certain performance assessments 

conducted in public schools. (BDR S-306) 
 
SENATOR JOYCE WOODHOUSE (Senatorial District No. 5): 
I am pleased to present S.B. 303, which requires an audit of our Statewide 
student assessments. More information came forward after we had the hearing 
in the Senate Committee on Education. Chris Daly, of the Nevada State 
Education Association (NSEA) will discuss that. It may change some of the 
direction of this legislation. It is important that we set the stage as to why we 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5279/Overview/
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must address the issue of student assessments in our schools. I will read from 
my written testimony (Exhibit H).  
 
CHRIS DALY (Deputy Executive Director of Government Relations, Nevada State 

Education Association): 
Frustration with student assessments is one of the top complaints from our 
members who are in the classroom. The NSEA supports S.B. 303, the Time to 
Teach, Not Test Initiative. We give our warmest and sincere thanks to 
Senator Woodhouse, not just for sponsoring this bill, but for always 
championing our public schools.  
 
The U.S. Code 20 sections 6361 through 6363 outline the process for states to 
audit their student assessment systems. This includes getting a schedule of 
assessments, their purpose and feedback from stakeholders, and development 
of a plan based on information gathered “to improve and streamline the 
State assessment system, including eliminating any unnecessary assessments,” 
as the code says.  
 
Last year the Nevada Department of Education prepared a schedule of 
assessments, conducted focus groups in three regions of the State 
and surveyed district test directors. The response was mixed. It was less than 
kind to our system of assessments.  
 
The report says results are sometimes not received at all or are not received in a 
timely manner. When they are received, it is too late to use them for any 
purpose. The time invested in tests was a frustration and an impediment to 
instruction. Participants expected online administration of the tests would lead 
to more timely results. It did not. Participants said they strongly believe a key 
feature of an ideal assessment system would be the timely delivery of results.  
 
Participants said there are too many State assessments and they take too long 
to administer. Assessments are redundant. Estimates of lost instructional time 
directly to test administration ranged from four days for one set of students to 
one month for all tests in all schools. They reported pressures to teach to 
the test, equipment and scheduling issues. Some schools asked some students 
to stay home on the days of assessments to accommodate test administration. 
Frequent assessments led to adverse behavioral and psychological outcomes. 
A lack of support for trouble shooting from the Department of Education was 
also noted.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN745H.pdf
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District test directors rated none of the assessments as being of high value in 
informing student progress, teacher needs or other metrics.  
 
The districts also had the federal Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) 
implementation process last year. The Nevada Department of Education released 
the Nevada Plan. Feedback has not been good. It conflicts with the 
Department’s statement about timely results.  
 
The NSEA supports transitioning away from a high-stakes graduation 
requirement to a medium-stakes Statewide final exam. We support that change 
as a beginning.  
 
We do not need a complete do over. We do need a plan based on the feedback 
of the stakeholders. That is missing. It may make sense to have a process that 
includes the Department and the legislative committees on education to ensure 
student assessments are improved and streamlined. We will continue to work 
with the bill sponsor and engage the Department moving forward.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
What is new that will adjust the fiscal note?  
 
MR. DALY: 
The Department included $143,000 in the fiscal note to redo the stakeholder 
groups. I am not sure that is necessary.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
Are you talking about using surveys and focus groups that have already 
been done? 
 
MR. DALY: 
Yes. An update would suffice and lower the costs. I would like to keep all of the 
money in plan development.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER: 
Has there been a new regulation out of Washington, D.C.? Have grants become 
available from the federal government? 
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MR. DALY: 
I have an update on that. We hear from the National Education Association that 
Congress is expected to finalize funding for FY 2016-2017 in the next month. 
Anticipated funding in the current draft in the U.S. Senate is $378 million and 
the House bill has $300 million for assessment. The U.S. Department 
of Education must provide each state with a minimum of $1.5 million. 
Remaining funds are distributed to states based on a state share of students 
aged 5 to 17. A percentage is reserved for this purpose of auditing state 
assessments. Nevada used some of those funds last year. We would be 
competitive moving forward.  
 
NATHA C. ANDERSON (President, Washoe Education Association): 
I am president of the Washoe Education Association. I am asking for your 
support of S.B. 303. We thank Senator Woodhouse for bringing this forward. 
The Time to Teach, Not Test legislation is something Senator Woodhouse and 
Mr. Daly brought forward. In my own experience as a high school teacher, 
I never received anything regarding assessments for my students coming in. 
We would have those tests, but we would never receive any information about 
the results or where students were lacking skills. Many of my peers in the lower 
grades report the same thing. It would help us to have the results in a timely 
fashion. Even if it is brought in over the summer, we need to have it to be able 
to adjust our lesson plans to help our students learn.  
 
The development of a plan to improve and streamline the process would help us 
so much. We try to teach every child. Many times I get asked, “What exactly do 
you teach?” I say, “I teach kids. I happen to teach the subject of English, 
but I teach kids. ” I think sometimes we forget that, and the tests forget that.  
 
The focus group brought up some important information. The data does not 
allow for how to help with instruction. The time constraints are a huge issue 
for us. The adjustments in the schedule make it hard for our students to 
concentrate on what is happening. We try to do our research projects in April 
and May. We are unable to get into the computer lab due to assessment 
administration at that time. In a school that is attended by students from lower 
income neighborhoods, it is particularly hard when the computer lab and the 
library are closed for testing. These students do not have computers at home.  
 
Please support S.B. 303.  
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ED GONZALEZ (Policy Analyst, Clark County Education Association):  
I am with the Clark County Education Association. We support the bill. 
We know students take many assessment tests. We have to figure out what 
works, what does not and what is unnecessary. The fiscal note is minimal. 
We support regaining instructional time, which you know as a money 
committee, is much more expensive than this fiscal note.  
 
RUBEN MURILLO JR. (President, Nevada State Education Association): 
The NSEA supports this bill. Much of the work has already been done. What do 
we do next? What do we do with the information we have? How do we plan to 
address the issue of tests that may be redundant?  
 
SENATOR DENIS: 
We used to joke that no child left behind meant no child left untested. We need 
to know what is happening with our kids, but at the same time, we need them 
to focus on learning. It is important we focus on what we need and get rid of 
the rest. Every little bit makes a difference. I appreciate Senator Woodhouse 
bringing this forward. With hope, we can get some great information 
and we can do something with that information, not just sit on it.  
 
STEVE CANAVERO, PH.D. (Superintendent of Public Instruction, 

Nevada Department of Education): 
Thank you to Senator Woodhouse for keeping this on our horizon and 
maintaining a focus on this critical aspect. I certainly would not characterize it 
as doing nothing or sitting on it. The Department of Education took the initiative 
to have a comprehensive audit and review of our assessment system. We have 
taken a number of steps to find alignment and efficiencies in the system and to 
push our vendors to turn around the information in a much more expeditious 
manner. We have had some challenges with testing vendors in the past. 
We have a good vendor to work with going forward. There are things we have 
already done using the information we have learned. We have learned some 
things about the interaction between the State, the district, the principal and the 
teacher, who all have roles in assessments.  
 
BRETT BARLEY (Deputy Superintendent for Student Achievement, 

Nevada Department of Education):  
We engaged in this assessment audit over the past summer. It was used to 
inform the creation of our ESSA plan. We had an assessment workgroup of 
stakeholders across the State come together for meetings to inform the writing 
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of the plan. They reviewed the audit and all the information included in it as 
they made their recommendations.  
 
The audit found, and the workgroup for our ESSA plan agreed, our K-8 system 
is quite aligned, in fact much more aligned than other states. Other states look 
to Nevada with envy at how we have been able to set up our K-8 system. 
We found areas of improvement for our high school end of course exams. 
Our ESSA plan is responsive to that feedback.  
 
A recommendation in Assembly Bill 7 would look at how we are delivering our 
high school end of course exams. We are considering a change in 
approach there.  
 
ASSEMBLY BILL 7: Revises provisions related to education. (BDR 34-126) 
 
At the elementary school and middle school levels we offer the 
Smarter Balanced Assessment to students in Grades 3 through 8. That takes 
0.4 percent of the school year. At Grades 5, 8 and 10, a science assessment 
takes up 0.2 percent of the school year. High schools have the end of course 
exams and the ACT. End of course exams take up 0.4 percent of the school 
year, and the ACT takes up 0.4 percent of the school year.  
 
One of the big takeaways I had from the audit was the interplay between 
State level and local level assessments. Auditors found that while we do have 
our State assessment system, there is another layer of assessments taking 
place at all of our schools that are either recommended or required by the 
districts or the school sites. It is the totality of those assessments that created 
this weight and burden we are hearing about.  
 
We need to spend much time figuring out the alignment between the State, 
district and school site.  
 
Mr. CANAVERO: 
A good example of how we believe we can find increased efficiencies was 
established over the interim when the Nevada Board of Education was required, 
through the enabling legislation of the Read By Grade 3 Act, to prescribe a 
reading assessment for students in kindergarten through second grade that is 
aligned to the third grade Smarter Balanced test. We did this by canvassing the 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/4613/Overview/
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school districts to understand what assessments they are using. Rather than 
adding a layer, we asked our districts what they are using.  
 
The majority of school districts use the measures of academic progress (MAP). 
Our task is to make sure that assessment would align to our third grade 
Smarter Balanced test. Could we draw a line between a student’s first or 
second grade performance in literacy on a district assessment to the third grade 
Smarter Balance assessment that is used as primary screener in third grade, 
among a number of other tools? The Board adopted the MAP. Rather than add 
more State assessment, we took advantage of quality assessments 
administered by our districts, which align to our third grade 
Smarter Balanced test.  
 
That is an example of the attention we are paying this issue. We will work with 
Senator Woodhouse on the fiscal note we provided. We asked the person who 
provided the initial audit to read the bill and provide us an estimate of what it 
would cost as written in the bill. That is how we arrived at the figure in the 
fiscal note.  
 
SENATOR WOODHOUSE: 
I want to bring this back to our students in our classrooms. The instructional 
time should be the highest number of minutes, hours and days working on 
subjects they are studying. Teachers must have data in a timely manner to use 
the data to reach students in areas where they are struggling. The stress we put 
on our students is great when they take these tests.  
 
One of my students in second grade was taking a reading test. We had been 
studying the subject all year long. A young girl suddenly broke down sobbing. 
You can imagine what that did to the other students. She said this to me 
through her sobs. “My mom and dad want me to be perfect. I have to get 
100 percent. You want me to be perfect.” That was a dagger to my heart. 
All I could do was comfort her.  
 
At lunchtime I called her mom and dad. They came to the school. She was a 
very good student. It was difficult to see someone that young be so pressured. 
It is important to look at the testing situation in its totality, what it is doing to 
instruction, what it is doing to our teachers and what it is doing, 
most importantly, to our kids.  
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VICE CHAIR PARKS: 
We will close the hearing on S.B. 303. I will return the gavel to 
Chair Woodhouse.  
 
CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
We have a bill draft request to address. I will read it.  
 
The Chair has been notified by the Governor’s Finance Office of a request for a 
General Fund appropriation not included in the Executive Budget transmitted on 
January 17, 2017. The request includes a General Fund appropriation of 
$1,680,000 to cover emergency responses to the 2017 flood events that 
occurred in January and February.  
 

SENATOR FORD MOVED TO ACCEPT A REQUEST FOR A BILL DRAFT 
INTRODUCTION FOR A GENERAL FUND APPROPRIATION OF 
$1,680,000 NOT INCLUDED IN THE EXECUTIVE BUDGET TO COVER 
EMERGENCY RESPONSES TO THE 2017 FLOOD EVENTS THAT 
OCCURRED IN JANUARY AND FEBRUARY.  
 
SENATOR KIECKHEFER SECONDED THE MOTION.  
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 

***** 
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CHAIR WOODHOUSE: 
Seeing no public comment, the meeting is adjourned at 10:04 a.m.  
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